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Part I FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
Item 1 Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of:
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Unaudited)
 

   
April 4,

2010   
January 3,

2010  
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash   $ 1,837   $ 1,589  
Accounts receivable—net (note 3)    33,380    37,688  
Inventories (note 3)    45,506    37,026  
Prepaid expenses    1,448    2,122  

  

   82,171    78,425  
Property, plant and equipment—net (note 3)    14,342    14,266  
Deferred financing costs—net (note 3)    551    627  
Deferred income taxes (note 7)    305    290  

  

  $ 97,369   $ 93,608  
  

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 45,957   $ 41,589  
Accrued liabilities (note 3)    6,177    6,218  
Income taxes payable    578    540  
Current portion of long-term debt (note 4)    1,200    5,013  
Current portion of capital lease obligations    829    789  

  

   54,741    54,149  
Long-term debt (note 4)    21,892    20,666  
Capital lease obligations    337    543  
Commitments and contingencies (note 11)    

Shareholders’ equity:    
Capital stock (note 5)    7,017    7,093  
Additional paid-in capital    253,462    253,304  
Deficit

   (240,080)   (242,147) 
  

   20,399    18,250  
  

  $ 97,369   $ 93,608  
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months ended
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except number of shares and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

      
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009  
Revenue     $ 61,354   $ 44,938  
Cost of sales      54,988    40,998  

    

Gross profit      6,366    3,940  
Selling, general and administrative expenses      3,730    3,519  
Restructuring charges   Note 6   —      815  

    

Operating earnings (loss)      2,636    (394) 
Interest expense   Note 3   489    326  

    

Earnings (loss) before income taxes      2,147    (720) 
Income tax expense (recovery)   Note 7   

Current      95    29  
Deferred      (15)   135  

    

     80    164  
    

Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations     $ 2,067   $ (884) 
Loss from discontinued operations   Note 8   —      (1,604) 

Net income (loss), also being comprehensive income (loss)      2,067   $ (2,488) 
    

Earnings (loss) per share of common stock:   Note 9   
Basic      

Continuing operations     $ 0.14   $ (0.06) 
Discontinued operations      —      (0.11) 

    

Total     $ 0.14   $ (0.17) 
    

Diluted      
Continuing operations     $ 0.14   $ (0.06) 
Discontinued operations      —      (0.11) 

    

Total     $ 0.14   $ (0.17) 
    

Weighted average number of shares outstanding      
Basic      14,654,392    14,646,333  
Diluted      14,819,960    14,646,333  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the three months ended
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Unaudited)
 

   Capital stock  Warrants  
Additional  paid-in

capital   Deficit   Shareholders’ equity 
Balance, January 3, 2010   $ 7,093   $ —     $ 253,304  $(242,147)  $ 18,250  
Stock-based compensation    —      —      47   —      47  
Conversion of shares from exchangeable to

common stock    (76)   —      76   —      —    
Exercise of stock options    —      —      35   —      35 
Net income    —      —      —     2,067    2,067  

    

Balance, April 4, 2010   $ 7,017   $ —     $ 253,462  $(240,080)  $ 20,399  
    

   Capital stock  Warrants  
Additional  paid-in

capital   Deficit   
Total Shareholders’

equity  
Balance, January 4, 2009   $ 7,456   $10,372   $ 249,655  $(246,169)  $ 21,314  
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle—January 5, 2009 reclassification of
warrants to opening deficit    —      (7,617)   —     7,617    —    

    

Adjusted balance, January 5, 2009   $ 7,456   $ 2,755   $ 249,655  $(238,552)  $ 21,314  
Stock-based compensation    —      —      89   —      89  
Conversion of shares from exchangeable to

common stock    (37)   —      37   —      —    
Expiry of warrants    —      (2,755)   2,755   —      —    
Net loss    —      —      —     (2,488)   (2,488) 

    

Balance, April 5, 2009   $ 7,419   $ —     $ 252,536  $(241,040)  $ 18,915  
    

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three months ended
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Unaudited)
 

   
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009  
Cash provided by (used in):    
Operations:    
Net earnings (loss)   $ 2,067   $(2,488) 
Items not involving cash:    

Depreciation    607    717  
Deferred income taxes    (15)   135  
Non-cash interest    76    64  
Stock-based compensation    574    10  

Change in non-cash operating working capital:    
Accounts receivable    4,308    762  
Inventories    (8,480)   6,540  
Prepaid expenses    674    (365) 
Income taxes recoverable/payable    38    (17) 
Accounts payable    4,368    (5,093) 
Accrued liabilities    (559)   (1,439) 

  

   3,658    (1,174) 
Financing:    
Increase (decrease) in revolving debt    (2,512)   94  
Repayment of long-term debt    (75)   (400) 
Principal payment of capital lease obligations    (166)   (384) 
Deferred financing costs    —      (151) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    35   —    

  

   (2,718)   (841) 
Investing:    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment    (692)   (163) 

  

   (692)   (163) 
  

Increase (decrease) in cash    248    (2,178) 
Cash, beginning of period    1,589    2,623  

  

Cash, end of the period   $ 1,837   $ 445  
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of the business
SMTC Corporation (the “Company”) is a worldwide provider of advanced electronics manufacturing services to original equipment

manufacturers. The Company services its customers through manufacturing and technology centers located in the United States, Canada,
Mexico and China. For the past nine years the Company has had an evolving manufacturing relationship with Alco Electronics Ltd.
(“Alco”), a Hong Kong headquartered, publicly-traded company with large scale manufacturing operations in China. Currently, the
Company is operating under a manufacturing agreement with Alco, having established a new dedicated manufacturing facility in Chang An,
China. Capitalizing on the strengths of both companies, this site provides SMTC current and prospective customers with highly efficient,
low cost Asia-based manufacturing solutions. The new facility provides a full suite of integrated manufacturing services including
assembly, testing, box build, final product integration, and expanded supply chain capabilities through an international sourcing and
procurement office.

Effective June 30, 2009, the Company closed its Boston, Massachusetts facility. Results of this operation are reported as discontinued
operations for the current and comparative reporting periods.

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the accounting
principles and methods of application disclosed in the audited consolidated financial statements within the Company’s Form 10-K for the
fiscal period ended January 3, 2010, (“Form 10-K”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 19, 2010,
except as described in Note 2. The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements include adjustments that are, in the
opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S.
GAAP”). These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the period ended January 3, 2010.

2. Accounting changes and recent accounting pronouncements
Accounting Changes
(a) Earnings Per Share:

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-08, “Earnings Per Share Amendments to
Section 260-10-S99”), (“ASU 2009-08”). This ASU represents technical corrections to Topic 260-10-S99, “Earnings per Share”, based on
EITF Topic D-53, Computation of Earnings Per Share for a Period that Includes a Redemption or an Induced Conversion of a Portion of a
Class of Preferred Stock and EITF Topic D-42, The Effect of the Calculation of Earnings Per Share for the Redemption or Induced
Conversion of Preferred Stock. The adoption of ASU 2009-08 did not have a material impact on the Company’s interim consolidated
financial statements.

(b) Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures:
In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”, (“ASU 2010-06”) which provides

amendments to subtopic 10 of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” that require
new disclosures regarding (1) transfers in and out of Levels 1 and 2 fair value measurements and (2) activity in Level 3 fair value
measurements. Additionally, ASU 2010-06 clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the level of disaggregation and about inputs and
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The guidance in ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward activity in
Level 3 fair value measurements which are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within
those fiscal years. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material effect on the Company’s interim consolidated financial statements.

(c) Subsequent Events:
In February 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-09, “Amendments to Certain Recognition and Disclosure Requirements” (“ASU 2010-

09”) which amends ASC 855, “Subsequent Events,” to address certain implementation issues related to an entity’s requirement to perform
and disclose subsequent events procedures. ASU 2010-09 added a definition of the term “SEC filer” and requires SEC filers and certain
other entities to evaluate subsequent events through the date the financial statements are issued. It also exempts SEC filers from disclosing
the date through which subsequent events have been evaluated. The Company adopted these new requirements in the first quarter of 2010.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
(a) In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, “Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements—a consensus of the

FASB Emerging Issues Task Force” (ASU 2009-13). It updates the existing multiple-element revenue arrangements guidance currently
included under ASC 605, “Revenue Recognition”. The revised guidance primarily provides two significant changes: 1) eliminates the need
for objective and reliable evidence of the fair value for the undelivered element in order for a delivered item to be treated as a separate unit
of accounting, and 2) eliminates the residual method to allocate the arrangement consideration. In addition, the guidance also expands the
disclosure requirements for revenue recognition. ASU 2009-13 will be effective for the first annual reporting period beginning on or after
June 15, 2010, with early adoption permitted provided that the revised guidance is retroactively applied to the beginning of the year of
adoption. The Company is currently assessing the future impact of this ASU to its consolidated financial statements.

Changes in Accounting Estimates
(a) In the course of acquiring machinery and equipment used in the surface mount process at the beginning of the first quarter of

2010, the Company conducted an asset by asset review of the estimated useful life of machinery and equipment used in that process. Based
on those findings, the estimated useful life of certain items of that class of assets was increased from 7 years to approximately 10 years,
depending on the individual asset. This change in estimate was applied to all existing and new assets of this class on a prospective basis
from January 3, 2010. This change in estimate for the quarter ended April 4, 2010 resulted in an increase to net income of $71 and no
change to earnings per share.

3. Consolidated financial statement details
The following consolidated financial statement details are presented as of the period ended for the consolidated balance sheets and

for the three months ended for each of the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and consolidated
statements of cash flows.

Consolidated balance sheets
Accounts receivable – net:

 

 

    
    April 4,    

2010   
  January 3,  

2010  
 Accounts receivable   $ 33,201   $ 37,709  
 Taxes receivable    537    537  
 Allowance for doubtful accounts    (358)   (558) 

  

 Accounts receivable—net   $ 33,380   $ 37,688  
  

 
Inventories:
    

 

    
April 4,

2010   
January 3,

2010  
 Raw materials   $ 31,070   $ 22,618  
 Work in process    11,133    10,564  
 Finished goods    2,327    2,789  
 Parts    976    1,055  

  

 Inventories   $ 45,506   $ 37,026  
  

 
Deferred financing costs:
    

 

    
April 4,

2010   
January 3,

2010  
 Deferred financing costs   $ 2,677   $ 2,677  
 Accumulated amortization    (2,126)   (2,050) 

  

   $ 551   $ 627  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 

Property, plant and equipment – net:
 

   
April 4,

2010   
    January 3,    

2010  
Cost:    

Land   $ 1,648   $ 1,648  
Buildings    9,852    9,852  
Machinery and equipment    30,719    30,065  
Office furniture and equipment    2,393    2,393  
Computer hardware and software    8,997    8,959  
Leasehold improvements    3,099    3,099  

  

   56,708    56,016  
  

Less accumulated depreciation:    
Land    —      —    
Buildings    (4,899)   (4,776) 
Machinery and equipment    (23,616)   (23,186) 
Office furniture and equipment    (2,310)   (2,305) 
Computer hardware and software    (8,636)   (8,592) 
Leasehold improvements    (2,905)   (2,891) 

  

   (42,366)   (41,750) 
  

Property, plant and equipment—net   $ 14,342   $ 14,266  
   

Included within machinery and equipment were assets under capital leases with costs of $7,141 as at both April 4, 2010 and
January 3, 2010 and associated accumulated depreciation of $4,214 and $3,998 as of April 4, 2010 and January 3, 2010, respectively.
The related depreciation expense for the three months ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009 were $216 and $260, respectively.
Included within computer hardware and software were assets under capital leases with costs of $268 as at both April 4, 2010 and
January 3, 2010, and associated accumulated depreciation of $159 and $137, as of April 4, 2010 and January 3, 2010, respectively.
The related depreciation expense for both the period ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009 was $22.

Accrued liabilities:
 

   
    April 4,    

2010   
    January 3,    

2010
Customer related   $ 1,337  $ 1,277
Interest and financing related    54   46
Payroll    2,875   2,079
Professional services    656   488
Restructuring and discontinued operations    356   884
Vendor related    69   498
Miscellaneous taxes    77   228
Other    753   718

    

Accrued liabilities   $ 6,177  $ 6,218
    

Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
Interest expense:

 

 

  Three months ended  

  
    April 4,    

2010   
    April 5,    

2009  
Long-term debt   $ 518   $ 278  
Obligations under capital leases    34    65  
Other    (63)   (17) 

  

Interest expense   $ 489   $ 326  
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 

Consolidated statements of cash flows
Supplemental disclosures:

 

 

  Three months ended

  
April 4,

2010   
    April 5,    

2009
Cash interest paid   $ 470  $ 456
Cash taxes paid—net   $ 68  $ 37

4. Long term debt
 

   
April 4,

2010   
January 3,

2010  
Senior debt:    

Revolving   $13,554   $ 16,066  
Term    9,538    9,613  

  

   23,092    25,679  
Less: Current portion of long-term debt    (1,200)   (5,013) 

  

Long-term debt   $21,892   $ 20,666  
  

The Company has a loan agreement with Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada (“Wells Fargo”) (formerly Wachovia
Capital Finance Corporation (Canada)) and Export Development Canada (“EDC”), to be referred to collectively as the “Wells Fargo EDC
Facilities”.

On April 2, 2009, the Company received a waiver from its lenders with respect to what would have otherwise been a covenant
violation at the time of filing of the Company’s fiscal 2008 financial statements. In addition, the Company and its lenders have amended
the lending agreements to revise the EBITDA and leverage covenants and eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio for the five quarters
beginning January 5, 2009 and including the first quarter of the 2010 fiscal period. The interest rate has also been increased by 200 to 300
basis points. On August 4, 2009, a further amendment was obtained, effectively extending the terms of the April agreement to July 2010.
On May 18, 2010, the Company and its lenders signed an amendment to extend the repayment schedule and the term of the debt agreement
to August 2013, to reset the EBITDA and leverage covenants, to eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, and to reduce interest
rates. The revolving line of credit now bears interest at prime to prime plus 1%, the term loan to EDC now bears interest at LIBOR plus
2.5% to 3.5 %, and the term loan to Wells Fargo now bears interest at LIBOR plus 3% to 4%, depending on the achievement of financial
performance levels as specified in the debt agreement.

The Company incurred costs of $151 related to the amendment of the Wells Fargo EDC Facilities in 2009. These costs were recorded
as a non-current deferred charge and are being amortized as additional interest expense over the remaining term of the credit facility.

Under the new amendment, required repayments of the term loan to EDC for fiscal 2010 are eliminated. Payments are scheduled to
recommence on April 1, 2011 as quarterly installments of $925, with the remaining amounts outstanding due at maturity. The term loan to
Wells Fargo is repayable in quarterly installments of $75, with the remaining amounts outstanding due at maturity.

The Wells Fargo EDC Facilities are jointly and severally guaranteed by the Company and secured by the assets and capital stock of
each of the Company’s subsidiaries and its future subsidiaries.

At April 4, 2010 and January 3, 2010, there were Canadian dollar denominated cash balances of $4,842 and $6,997 respectively,
which were classified as offsets to debt balances as they were used to reduce the outstanding revolving credit facilities.

The Company is in compliance with the financial covenants included in the amended Wells Fargo EDC Facilities as at April 4, 2010.
Management believes that the Company will be in compliance with these covenants for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
outstanding balances under the lending agreements continue to be classified as long-term. Continued compliance with its covenants,
however, is dependent on the Company achieving certain forecasts. While management is confident in its plans, market conditions have
been difficult to predict and there is no assurance that the Company will achieve its forecasts. In the event of non-compliance, the
Company’s lenders have the right to demand repayment of the amounts outstanding under the lending agreements or pursue other remedies
or, if the Company can reach an agreement with its lenders to amend or waive the financial covenants.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 
5. Capital stock

Common stock
Issued and outstanding:

The issued and outstanding number of shares of common stock included in shareholders’ equity consisted of the following as of
April 4, 2010:
 

   
Number
of shares   $  

Common Stock    
Exchangeable shares:    
Balance at beginning of the three month period   711,048   $6,728  

Shares issued pursuant to:    
Conversion to common stock   (8,000)   (76) 

  

Balance at end of the period   703,048   $6,652  
  

Common shares:    
Balance at beginning of the three month period   13,935,284   $ 365  

Shares issued pursuant to:    
Exercise of stock options   36,667    —    
Conversion of exchangeable shares   8,000    —    

  

Balance at end of the period   13,979,951   $ 365  
  

Special voting stock:    
Balance at beginning of the three month period   1   $ —    

  

Balance at end of the period   1   $ —    
  

Total Common stock   14,683,000   $7,017  
  

Warrants
Common Share Warrants:

On June 1, 2004, the Company’s pre-existing lenders exchanged $10,000 of outstanding debt and all warrants previously issued or
required to be issued for 2,233,389 shares of common stock and 11,166,947 warrants (the “Conversion Warrants”). Each warrant was
exercisable for one-tenth of one share of common stock of the Company at an exercise price of $6.90 per share of common stock. The
Conversion Warrants expired on March 4, 2009. Upon expiry of the unexercised warrants, the amount attributed to the Conversion
Warrants was recorded as additional paid-in capital.

Exchangeable Share Warrants:
On March 3, 2004, the Company completed a private placement, of 33,350,000 Special Warrants (each “Special Warrant” and

collectively, the “Special Warrants”) of SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Canada (“SMTC Canada”), an indirect subsidiary of the
Company. Each Special Warrant was issued at a price of CDN $1.20 per Special Warrant.

Subject to the satisfaction of applicable legal requirements, each Special Warrant was exercisable for one unit, consisting of one-fifth
of an exchangeable share of SMTC Canada, and one-half of a warrant to purchase one-fifth of an exchangeable share of SMTC Canada.
Each whole warrant (a “Purchase Warrant”) was exercisable for one-fifth of an exchangeable share of SMTC Canada at an exercise price of
CDN $9.25 per share. The Special Warrants were exercised into units on June 2, 2004. The Purchase Warrants expired unexercised on
March 3, 2009.

Upon the adoption of guidance under ASC 815, “Derivatives and Hedging”, on determining whether an instrument (or embedded
feature) is indexed to an entity’s own stock on January 5, 2009, the Purchase Warrants were retrospectively reclassified as liabilities,
without restatement of prior periods, as disclosed in Note 2 of the Form 10-K. As the fair value of these instruments at that date was
determined to be nil, the amount attributed to these warrants was recorded as a reduction of opening deficit on January 5, 2009.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 

Stock options
For information regarding the Company’s stock option arrangements, see Note 6 of the Form 10-K. There were no options granted

during the three month period ended April 4, 2010. The Company generally issues new shares when options are exercised. A summary of
stock option activity for the three month period ended April 4, 2010 is as follows:
 

   
Number

of options   

Weighted
average
exercise

price   

Aggregate
intrinsic

value   

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual
term (years)

Outstanding at January 3, 2010   1,937,440   $ 1.72    
Options exercised   (36,667)  $ 0.96    

      

Outstanding at April 4, 2010   1,900,773   $ 1.74  $ 2,276  4.4
      

Exercisable at April 4, 2010   1,225,777   $ 2.14  $ 1,163  4.6
      

During the three month periods ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense and
a corresponding increase in contributed surplus of $47 and $89, respectively. At April 4, 2010, compensation expense of $389 related to
non-vested stock options had not been recognized.

Deferred share units
Deferred Share Units were granted to directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company as remuneration. During the three

months ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009, no deferred share units were granted.

At both April 4, 2010 and January 3, 2010, 335,666 deferred share units were outstanding.

Deferred Share Unit compensation expense for the three months ended April 4, 2010 was $527, compared with recovery of $79 for
the three months ended April 5, 2009.

There is no unrecognized compensation related to deferred share units since these awards vest immediately when granted.

6. Restructuring and other charges
In the first quarter of 2009, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $815, consisting of severance charges of $445 in the

Mexican segment, $337 in the Canadian segment, and $33 in the U.S. segment. The Company reduced staff levels by approximately 160 in
response to expected lower revenues resulting from the global economic recession under the 2009 Plan. There were no amounts in the
restructuring accrual relating to the 2009 Plan as at either January 3, 2010 or April 4, 2010.

7. Income taxes
During the three months ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009, the Company recorded a net income tax expense of $80 and $164,

respectively, primarily related to minimum taxes in certain jurisdictions.

At January 3, 2010, the Company had total net operating loss (“NOL”) carry forwards of $113,058, which will expire in the years
presented below:
 

2010   $ 10,278
2012    1,260
2014    4,154
2015    1,819
2018    1,078
2019    60
2020    30
2021    19,160
2022    16,207
2023    27,270
2025-2029    31,742

  

  $113,058
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 

At April 4, 2010 and January 3, 2010, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $327 and $312, respectively, which if
recognized, would favorably impact the Company’s effective tax rate in future periods. The change during the period relates to foreign
exchange revaluation of existing uncertain tax positions. The Company does not expect any of these unrecognized tax benefits to reverse in
the next twelve months.

Tax years 2002 to 2009 remain open for review by tax authorities in Canada. Tax years 2004 to 2009 remain open for review by tax
authorities in the United States. In addition, 2001 contains an NOL that could potentially be carried forward and therefore remains open to
the extent of the NOL.

The Company accounts for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense based on the likelihood
of the event and its ability to reasonably estimate such amounts. The Company has approximately $204 and $203 accrued for interest and
penalties as of April 4, 2010 and January 3, 2010, respectively. The increase is primarily due to the recording of incremental interest on
existing uncertain positions for the period and foreign exchange revaluation.

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
its deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, change of control limitations, projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. ASC 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”), states that forming a conclusion
that a valuation allowance is not needed is difficult when there is negative evidence, such as cumulative losses in recent years in the
jurisdictions to which the deferred tax assets relate. As a result of a review undertaken in the second quarter of 2003, the Company
concluded that given the weakness and uncertainty in the economic environment at that time, it was appropriate to establish a full valuation
allowance for the deferred tax assets arising from its operations in the jurisdictions to which the deferred tax assets relate. Commencing in
2004, it was determined by management that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets associated with the Mexican
jurisdiction would be realized and no valuation allowance has been recorded against these deferred tax assets since 2004. The U.S. and
Canadian jurisdictions continued to have a full valuation allowance established for the deferred tax assets. In addition, the Company
expects to continue to provide a full valuation allowance for the assets relating to the U.S and Canadian jurisdictions until it can
demonstrate a sustained level of profitability that establishes its ability to utilize the assets in the jurisdictions to which the assets relate.

8. Discontinued operations
In June 2009, the Company ceased manufacturing operations at its Boston, Massachusetts facility, which was formerly included in the

United States reporting segment. The decision was based primarily on the historical losses sustained in these operations. The Company
entered into an agreement with the landlord to terminate the existing lease and conducted a sale of plant equipment. As at July 5, 2009, the
Boston facility was classified as a discontinued operation and its results of operations are separately reported for all periods presented.
Summarized financial information for discontinued operations is presented below:
 

   Three months ended  

   
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009  
Discontinued Operations Before Disposal:     

Revenue   $ —    $ 3,524  
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes   $ —    $ (1,604) 

The following table details the change in the discontinued operations accrual for the period ended April 4, 2010:
 

   Severance  Lease Obligations  
Other Facility

Exit Costs   Total  
Accruals related to discontinued operations   $ 742   $ 2,296   $ 343   $ 3,381  

Cash payments    (517)   (1,709)   (271)   (2,497) 
  

Accrual balance as at January 3, 2010   $ 225   $ 587   $ 72   $ 884  
Cash payments    (78)   (430)   (20)   (528) 

  

Accrual balance as at April 4, 2010   $ 147   $ 157   $ 52   $ 356  
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Remaining accrued amounts relating to the discontinued operations are expected to be paid out by the second quarter of 2010 through
drawdowns on the revolving credit facilities.

9. Earnings per common share
The following table details the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the purposes of computing basic and

diluted earnings per common share for the following periods:
 

   Three months ended

(Number of common shares)   
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009
Basic weighted average shares outstanding   14,654,392  14,646,333

Dilutive stock options   165,568  —  
    

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding   14,819,960  14,646,333
     

As a result of the net loss from continuing operations for the three months ended April 5, 2009, diluted earnings per share was
calculated using the basic weighted average shares outstanding as the effect of potential common shares would have been anti-
dilutive.
For the three months ended April 4, 2010, dilutive stock options were determined using the treasury stock method, using an average
share price of $1.58 per share.
For the three months ended April 4, 2010, the calculation did not include 727,440 stock options as the effect would have been anti-
dilutive.

10. Segmented information
The Company derives its revenue from one dominant industry segment, the electronics manufacturing services industry. The

Company is operated and managed geographically and has facilities in the United States, Canada, Mexico and Asia. The Company
monitors the performance of its geographic operating segments based on EBITA (earnings before interest, taxes and amortization) and
before restructuring charges. Intersegment adjustments reflect intersegment sales that are generally recorded at prices that approximate
arm’s-length transactions. In assessing the performance of the operating segments management attributes revenue to the operating segment
which ships the product. The Canadian segment absorbs a substantial portion of corporate costs. Information about the operating segments
is as follows for the three months ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009:
 

   Three months ended  

   
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009  
Revenues    
Mexico   $26,124   $13,427  
Asia    16,860    13,297  
Canada    14,496    16,505  
U.S.    4,822    2,654  

  

Total   $62,302   $45,883  
  

Intersegment revenue    
Mexico   $ (463)  $ (638) 
Canada    (424)   (304) 
U.S.    (61)   (3) 

  

Total   $ (948)  $ (945) 
  

Net external revenue    
Mexico   $25,661   $12,789  
Asia    16,860    13,297  
Canada    14,072    16,201  
U.S.    4,761    2,651  

  

Total   $61,354   $44,938  
  

EBITA    
Mexico   $ 3,118   $ 240  
Asia    228    551  
Canada    (1,095)   69  
U.S.    385    (439) 

  

Total   $ 2,636   $ 421  
  

Interest    489    326  
Restructuring charges    —      815  

  

Earnings (loss) before income taxes   $ 2,147   $ (720) 
  

 
14

 (a) (b)

(a)

(b)



Table of Contents

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
 

Capital additions
The following table contains capital additions for the three months ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009:

 
   Three months ended

   
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009
Mexico   $ 69  $ 48
Asia    604   5
Canada    4   84
U.S.    15   26

    

Total   $ 692  $ 163
    

   
April 4,

2010   
January 3,

2010
Long-lived assets     
Mexico   $10,944  $ 11,267
Asia    621   41
Canada    1,896   2,049
U.S.    881   909

    

Total   $14,342  $ 14,266
     

Long-lived assets information is based on the principal location of the asset.

Geographic revenues
The following table contains geographic revenues based on the product shipment destination, for the three months ended April 4,

2010 and April 5, 2009:
 

   Three months ended

   
April 4,

2010   
April 5,

2009
U.S.   $33,417  $14,943
Canada    15,433   21,403
Asia    12,470   8,301
Europe    31   285
Mexico    3   6

    

Total   $61,354  $44,938
    

Significant customers and concentration of credit risk:
Sales of the Company’s products are concentrated in certain cases among specific customers in the same industry. The Company is

subject to concentrations of credit risk in trade receivables. The Company considers concentrations of credit risk in establishing the
allowance for doubtful accounts and believes the recorded allowances are adequate.

The Company expects to continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of its revenue.
In addition to having a limited number of customers, the Company manufactures a limited number of products for each customer. If the
Company loses any of its larger customers or any product line manufactured for one of its larger customers, it could experience a
significant reduction in revenue. Also, the insolvency of one or more of its larger customers or the inability of one or more of its larger
customers to pay for its orders could decrease revenue. As many costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed, a reduction in net
revenue can decrease profit margins and adversely affect the business, financial condition and results of operations.
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During the three months ended April 4, 2010, four customers individually comprised 21.7%, 16.1%, 11.5% and 11.2% (April 5, 2009
– 21.7%, 18.8%, 15.2% and 13.5%) of total revenue from continuing operations across all geographic segments. As of April 4, 2010, these
customers represented 19%, 12%, 11% and 4%, respectively, (January 3, 2010 – 35%, 24%, 3% and 9%, respectively) of the Company’s
trade accounts receivable.

11. Commitments and contingencies
In the normal course of business, the Company may be subject to litigation and claims from customers, suppliers and former

employees. Management believes that adequate provisions have been recorded in the financial statements, as required. Although it is not
possible to estimate the extent of potential costs, if any, management believes that ultimate resolution of such contingencies would not have
a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company.
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Item 2 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” or “SMTC”, we mean SMTC Corporation or SMTC Corporation and its

subsidiaries, as it may apply. Where we refer to the “industry”, we mean the electronics manufacturing services industry.

You should read this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) in
combination with the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes as well as the audited
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) included within the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K filed on March 19, 2010. The forward-looking statements in this discussion regarding the electronics manufacturing services industry,
our expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources and other non-historical statements in this discussion
include numerous risks and uncertainties, some of which are as described in the “Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results” section in
the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 19, 2010, as updated by Item 1A in Part II of this quarterly report. Certain statements in
this MD&A contain words such as “could”, “expects”, “may”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “intends”, “estimates”, “plans”, “envisions”,
“seeks” and other similar language and are considered forward looking statements or information under applicable securities laws. These
statements are based on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the operating environment, economies and
markets in which we operate. These statements are subject to important assumptions, risks and uncertainties, which are difficult to predict
and the actual outcome may be materially different. Although we believe expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
reasonable based upon the assumptions in this MD&A, they may prove to be inaccurate and consequently our actual results could differ
materially from our expectations set out in this MD&A. We may not update these forward-looking statements after the date of this Form
10-Q, even though our situation may change in the future. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by
these cautionary statements.

This MD&A contains discussion in U.S. dollars unless specifically stated otherwise.

Background
SMTC Corporation is a mid-tier provider of end-to-end electronics manufacturing services, or EMS, including product design and

sustaining engineering services, printed circuit board assembly, or PCBA, production, enclosure fabrication, systems integration and
comprehensive testing services. SMTC facilities span a broad footprint in the United States, Canada, Mexico and China, with over 1000
employees. SMTC’s services extend over the entire electronic product life cycle from the development and introduction of new products
through to growth, maturity and end-of-life phases. SMTC offers fully integrated contract manufacturing services with a distinctive
approach to global original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, and technology companies primarily within the industrial, computing and
networking, and communications, consumer and medical market segments.

Developments in the first quarter of 2010
As expected, first quarter results were significantly improved both sequentially and over the same quarter last year. The Company’s

revenues increased 20% sequentially and 37% compared to the first quarter of 2009. Several longstanding customers are experiencing
stronger end markets and are increasing production demand to reestablish inventory levels in response to positive broader signs that the
overall North American economy is recovering. Importantly, the Company has also experienced growth from newer customers. The
Company entered and exited the first quarter with a substantial order backlog as strong demand for the Company’s services continued.

For the quarter, the Company recorded net income of $2.1 million which includes a $574 thousand charge for non-cash stock based
compensation. Excluding this charge, net income would be $2.6 million. The Company generated $3.7 million in cash from operations, of
which $3.3 million was generated from earnings and $0.4 million from working capital despite continuing higher inventory levels resulting
from component shortages and increased demand that drive higher inventory levels and revenue backlog. Net bank debt levels were reduced
by approximately $3 million to $21.3 million.

On May 18, 2010, the Company and its lenders signed an amendment to extend the repayment schedule and the term of the debt
agreement to August 2013, to reset the EBITDA and leverage covenants, to eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, and to
reduce interest rates . The revolving line of credit now bears interest at prime to prime plus 1%, the term loan to EDC now bears interest at
LIBOR plus 2.5% to 3.5%, the term loan to Wells Fargo now bears interest at LIBOR plus 3% to 4%, depending on the achievement of
financial performance levels as specified in the debt agreement. Under the new amendment, required repayments of the term loan to EDC
for fiscal 2010 are eliminated. Payments are scheduled to recommence on April 1, 2011.

The Company is in compliance with its debt covenants as at April 4, 2010 and expects to continue to be in compliance with these
covenants for the foreseeable future.

Results of Operations
The interim consolidated financial statements of SMTC are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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Quarter ended April 4, 2010 compared with the quarter ended April 5, 2009:
The following table sets forth summarized operating results in millions of U.S.$ for the periods indicated:

 

   
Three months ended

April 4, 2010   
Three months ended

April 5, 2009   
Change

2010 to  2009  
   $   %   $   %   $   %  
Revenue   $ 61.4  100.0%  $ 44.9   100.0%  $16.5   36.7% 
Cost of sales    55.0  89.6%   41.0   91.3%   14.0   34.1% 

    

Gross profit    6.4  10.4%   3.9   8.7%   2.5   64.1% 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    3.7  6.0%   3.5   7.8%   0.2   5.7% 
Restructuring charges    —    —      0.8   1.8%   (0.8)  (100.0)% 

    

Operating earnings (loss)    2.7  4.4%   (0.4)  (0.9)%   3.1   775.0% 
Interest expense    0.5  0.8%   0.3   0.7%   0.2   66.7% 

    

Earnings (loss) before income taxes    2.2  3.6%   (0.7)  (1.6)%   2.9   414.3% 
Income tax expense         

Current    0.1  0.2%   —     0.0%   0.1   NA  
Deferred    —    —      0.2  0.4%   (0.2)  (100.0)% 

    

   0.1  0.2%   0.2   0.4%   (0.1)  (50.0)% 
    

Income(loss) from continuing operations    2.1  3.4%   (0.9)  (2.0)%   3.0   333.3% 
Loss from discontinued operations    —    —      (1.6)  (3.6)%   1.6   100.0% 

    

Net earnings (loss)   $ 2.1  3.4%  $ (2.5)  (5.6)%  $ 4.6   184.0% 
    

Revenue
Revenue increased $16.5 million, or 36.7%, from $44.9 million for the first quarter of 2009 to $61.4 million for the first quarter of

2010 as substantially all of SMTC’s long standing customers’ end markets were favourably impacted by increased demand and inventory
rebuilding. In addition, newer customers including those announced in the past several months and introduced in 2009, have contributed $3
million in increased revenue over the same period last year and customers for which we gained greater share have contributed $7 million
year over year. This has been somewhat offset by reductions from certain other long standing customers.

During the first quarter of 2010, revenue from the industrial sector significantly increased compared to the same quarter of 2009,
$50.1 million for the first quarter of 2010 compared with $35.2 million for the same period in 2009, a result of the general increase by all
customers and the ramp up of newer customers offsetting reductions in other customers. Revenue from the industrial sector as a percentage
of total revenue increased to 81.7% in the first quarter of 2010, compared with 78.5% of total revenue in the first quarter of 2009 as a result
of the ramp of our new industrial customers.

During the first quarter of 2010, revenue from the communications sector increased slightly as end markets improved compared with
the same quarter of 2009, $5.1 million for the first quarter of 2010 compared with $4.8 million in 2009. Revenue from the communication
sector represented 8.2% of total revenue in the first quarter of 2010, compared with 10.6% of total revenue in the first quarter of 2009.

During the first quarter of 2010, revenue from the networking and enterprise computing sector increased compared with the same
quarter of 2009, $6.2 million for the first quarter of 2010 compared with $4.9 million in 2009, driven by increases from certain new
customers and customers where the Company has an expanded share of business. Revenue from the networking and enterprise computing
sector represented 10.1% of total revenue in the first quarter of 2010, down from 10.9% of total revenue in the first quarter of 2009.

During the first quarter of 2010, we recorded approximately $0.2 million of sales of raw materials inventory to customers, which
carried no margin, compared to $0.3 million in the first quarter of 2009. The Company purchases raw materials based on customer purchase
orders. When a customer requires an order to be altered or changed, the customer is generally obligated to purchase the original on-order
raw material at cost, to the extent the materials are not consumed within a specified period.

Due to changes in market conditions, the life cycle of products, the nature of specific programs and other factors, revenues from a
particular customer typically varies from quarter to quarter and year to year. The Company’s ten largest
 

18



Table of Contents

customers represented 89.1% of revenue during the first quarter of 2010, compared to 91.7% in the first quarter of 2009. Revenue from our
four largest customers during the first quarter of 2010 were $13.3 million, $9.9 million, $7.1 million and $6.9 million representing 21.7%,
16.1%, 11.5% and 11.2% of total revenue for the first quarter of 2010, respectively. This compares with revenue of $9.7 million, $8.5
million, $6.8 million and $6.1 million, representing 21.7%, 18.8%, 15.2% and 13.5% of total revenue from continuing operations for our
four largest customers for the first quarter of 2009, respectively. No other customers represented more than 10% of revenue in either
period.

During the first quarter of 2010, 41.8% of our revenue was attributable to our operations in Mexico, 27.5% in Asia, 22.9% in Canada,
and 7.8% in the U.S. During the first quarter of 2009, 36.0% of our revenue from continuing operations was attributable to our operations in
Canada, 29.6% in Asia, 28.5% in Mexico and 5.9% in the United States.

The Company operates in a highly competitive and dynamic marketplace in which current and prospective customers from time to
time seek to lower their costs through a competitive bidding process among EMS providers. This process creates an opportunity to increase
revenue to the extent we are successful in the bidding process, however, there is also the potential for revenue to decline to the extent we
are unsuccessful in this process. Furthermore, even if we are successful, there is potential for our margins to decline. If we lose any of our
larger product lines manufactured for any one of our customers, we could experience declines in revenue.

Gross Profit
Gross profit for the first quarter of 2010 increased by $2.5 million, or 64.1%, to $6.4 million when compared to the same period in

2009. Gross margin as a percent of sales increased to 10.4% from 8.8%. This is largely due to increased revenue levels, cost control
initiatives, a reduction in certain allowances and improved efficiency.

The Company adjusts for estimated obsolete or excess inventory for the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated
realizable value based upon customer forecasts, shrinkage, the aging and future demand of the inventory, past experience with specific
customers and the ability to sell back inventory to customers or suppliers. If these estimates change, additional write-downs may be
required.

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.2 million, or 5.7%, during the first quarter of 2010 to $3.7 million, from

$3.5 million in the first quarter of 2009. As a percent of revenues, expenses decreased to 6.1% from 7.8% The increase in absolute dollars is
largely due to a $0.6 million charge for non-cash stock based compensation costs, a $0.3 million charge for variable based employee
compensation, offset by reduced legal and other professional fees compared to the first quarter of 2009 and the impact of foreign exchange
on the strengthening Canadian dollar.

The Company determines the allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated credit losses based on the length of time the receivables
have been outstanding, customer and industry concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience.

Interest Expense
Interest expense increased from $0.3 million in the first quarter of 2009 to $0.5 million for the first quarter of 2010, an increase of

$0.2 million resulting from higher debt levels, increased interest rates due to market rate increases and a recovery of interest from prior
periods recorded in the first quarter of 2009. Interest expense in both the first quarter of 2010 and 2009 included the amortization of
deferred financing fees of $0.1 million. The weighted average interest rates with respect to the debt were 5.6% and 4.8% for each of the
first quarters of 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Restructuring Charges
There were no restructuring charges in the first quarter of 2010.

In the first quarter of 2009, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $0.8 million, consisting of severance charges of $0.5
million in the Mexican segment, $0.3 million in the Canadian segment, and a nominal amount in the U.S. segment. The Company reduced
staff levels by approximately 160 in response to expected lower revenues resulting from the global economic recession.

Income Tax Expense
During the first quarter of 2010, the Company recorded income tax expense of $0.1 million related to minimum taxes in certain

jurisdictions, compared to a net income tax expense of $0.2 million related to minimum tax in the first quarter of 2009.
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In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
its deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, change of control limitations, projected future taxable
income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Guidance under ASC 740 states that forming a conclusion that a valuation
allowance is not needed is difficult when there is negative evidence, such as cumulative losses in recent years in the jurisdictions to which
the deferred tax assets relate. At the end of the second quarter of 2003, the Company concluded that given the weakness and uncertainty in
the industry’s economic environment at that time, it was appropriate to establish a full valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets.
Commencing in 2004, it was determined by management that it was more likely than not that the deferred tax assets associated with the
Mexican jurisdiction would be realized and no valuation allowance has been recorded against these deferred tax assets since 2004. The
U.S. and Canadian jurisdictions continue to have a full valuation allowance recorded against the deferred tax assets in those jurisdictions.

At January 3, 2010, the Company had total net operating loss carry forwards of $113.1 million, of which $10.3 million will expire in
2010, $1.3 million will expire in 2012, $4.2 million will expire in 2014, $1.8 million will expire in 2015, $1.1 million will expire in 2018,
$0.1 million will expire in 2019 and 2020, $19.2 million will expire in 2021, $16.2 million will expire in 2022, $27.3 million will expire in
2023, and the remainder will expire between 2025 and 2029.

Discontinued Operations
In June 2009, the Company ceased manufacturing operations at its Boston, Massachusetts facility. The Company entered into an

agreement with the landlord to terminate the existing lease and conducted a sale of plant equipment. As of July 5, 2009, the Boston facility
was classified as a discontinued operation and its results of operations have been separately reported for all periods presented.

Loss from discontinued operations before disposal was $1.6 million in the first quarter of 2009, and nil in the first quarter of 2010.

Liquidity
Net cash generated in operating activities during the three months ended April 4, 2010 was $3.7 million driven by the net income

recorded by the Company. Net working capital decreased by $0.4 million primarily due to decreases in accounts receivable and accrued
liabilities largely offset by increases in inventory and accounts payable. Accounts receivable days sales outstanding were 49 and 56 days for
each of the three months ended April 4, 2010 and April 5, 2009, respectively. Inventory turnover, on an annualized basis was 5 times for
the first quarter of both 2010 and 2009. Accounts payable days outstanding were 76 days at the end of the first quarter of 2010 compared to
71 days for the same period in 2009.

Net cash used in financing activities during the three months ended April 4, 2010 was $2.7 million and in the three months ended
April 5, 2009 was $0.8 million. During the three months ended April 4, 2010, the Company repaid debt of $2.6 million.

Net cash used by investing activities during the three months ended April 4, 2010 was $0.7 million and the three months ended
April 5, 2009 was $0.2 million, pertaining to additions of property, plant and equipment.

All accruals related to the disposal of the Boston facility are expected to be settled by the end of the second quarter of 2010.

Capital Resources
On May 18, 2010, the Company and its lenders signed an amendment to extend the repayment schedule and the term of the debt

agreement to August 2013, to reset the EBITDA and leverage covenants, to eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, and to
reduce interest rates . The revolving line of credit now bears interest at prime to prime plus 1%, the term loan to EDC now bears interest at
LIBOR plus 2.5% to 3.5 %, and the term loan to Wells Fargo now bears interest at LIBOR plus 3% to 4%, depending on the achievement
of financial performance levels as specified in the debt agreement. Under the new amendment, required repayments of the term loan to
EDC for fiscal 2010 are eliminated. Payments are scheduled to recommence on April 1, 2011. The Company was in compliance with the
required financial covenants as of April 4, 2010.

We believe that cash generated from operations, available cash and amounts available under our Wells Fargo EDC Facilities and
additional financing sources such as leasing companies and other lenders will be adequate to meet our debt service requirements, capital
expenditures and working capital needs at our current level of operations and organic growth in the future, although no assurance can be
given in this regard, particularly with respect to amounts available from lenders. We have agreed to a borrowing base formula under which
the amount we are permitted to borrow under the Wells Fargo EDC
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Facilities is based on our accounts receivable and inventory. Further, there can be no assurance that our business will generate sufficient
cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available to enable us to service our indebtedness. Our future operating
performance and ability to service indebtedness will be subject to future economic conditions and to financial, business and other factors,
certain of which are beyond our control.

During the three months ended April 4, 2010, there were no additions of property, plant and equipment acquired via capital leases.
 
Item 3 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk
Our credit facilities bear interest at floating rates. The weighted average interest rate incurred on debt for the quarter ended April 4,

2010 was 5.6%. At April 4, 2010, the interest rate on our U.S. revolving credit facility is 5.25% based on the U.S. prime rate, and our
Canadian term debt bore interest at 6.25% based on LIBOR. If base rates increased by 10%, our interest expense would have increased by
approximately $0.1 million annually.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
Most of our sales and component purchases are denominated in U.S. dollars. Our Canadian and Mexican payroll, Euro based

component purchases and other various expenses are denominated in local currencies. As a result, we have limited exposure to foreign
currency exchange risk for modest changes in exchange rates. However, for more significant changes in exchange rates, the Company is
subject to much greater variations. Every $0.01 change in the US dollar results in a change in expenses of approximately $0.2 million. The
strengthening of the Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso results in an increase in costs to the organization and may lead to a reduction in
reported earnings.
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Item 4T Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, the Company’s Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer have conducted an evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation, the Company’s
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the applicable Securities and
Exchange Commission rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s
Principal Executive Officer and the Company’s Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls and Procedures
There was no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting or in other factors that has materially affected, or is

reasonably likely to materially affect these controls identified in connection with the most recent evaluation of these controls by the
Company’s Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.
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Part II OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1A Risk Factors

Other than with respect to the risk factors below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors disclosed in the “Risk
Factors” section of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended January 3, 2010. The three risk factors below were
disclosed on the Form 10-K and have been updated to provide revised information as of April 4, 2010.

A majority of our revenue comes from a small number of customers; if we lose any of our larger customers, our revenue could
decline significantly.

We operate in a highly competitive and dynamic marketplace in which current and prospective customers often seek to lower their
costs through a competitive bidding process among EMS providers. This process creates an opportunity to increase revenue to the extent we
are successful in the bidding process, however, there is also the potential for revenue to decline to the extent we are unsuccessful in the
process. Furthermore, even if we are successful, there is the potential for our margins to decrease.

Our four largest customers represented 21.7%, 16.1%, 11.5% and 11.2% of total revenue from continuing operations for the three
months ended April 4, 2010, respectively. For the first quarter of 2010, our top ten largest customers collectively represented 89.1% of our
total revenue. We expect to continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of our revenue. In
addition to having a limited number of customers, we manufacture a limited number of products for each of our customers. If we lose any
of our largest customers or any product line manufactured for one of our largest customers, we could experience a significant reduction in
our revenue. Also, the insolvency of one or more of our largest customers or the inability of one or more of our largest customers to pay for
its orders could decrease revenue. As many of our costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed, a reduction in net revenue can decrease
our profit margins and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks particular to our international manufacturing operations could adversely affect our overall results.

Our international manufacturing operations are subject to inherent risks, including:
 

 •  fluctuations in the value of currencies and high levels of inflation;
 

 •  longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in collecting amounts receivable;
 

 •  reduced credit and payment terms with vendors;
 

 •  unexpected changes in and the burdens and costs of compliance with a variety of foreign laws;
 

 •  political and economic instability;
 

 •  increases in duties and taxation;
 

 •  imposition of restrictions on currency conversion or the transfer of funds;
 

 •  trade restrictions; and
 

 •  maintaining a good relationship with Alco, our manufacturing partner in China.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and severely limit our ability to plan for or respond to changes in our
business.

On May 18, 2010, the Company and its lenders signed an amendment to extend the repayment schedule and the term of the debt
agreement to August 2013, to reset the EBITDA and leverage covenants, to eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, and to
reduce interest rates. The revolving line of credit now bears interest at prime to prime plus 1%, the term loan to EDC now bears interest at
LIBOR plus 2.5% to 3.5 %, and the term loan to Wells Fargo now bears interest at LIBOR plus 3% to 4%, depending on the achievement
of financial performance levels as specified in the debt agreement. Under the new amendment, required repayments of the term loan to
EDC for fiscal 2010 are eliminated. Payments are scheduled to recommence on April 1, 2011. Management believes that the Company will
be in compliance with these amended covenants for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the outstanding balances under the lending
agreements continue to be classified as long-term. Continued compliance with its covenants, however, is dependent on the Company
achieving certain forecasts. While management is confident in its plans, market conditions have been difficult to predict and there is no
assurance that the Company will achieve its forecasts.

Our debt under the Wells Fargo EDC Facilities could have adverse consequences for our business, including:
 

 •  We will be more vulnerable to adverse general economic conditions.
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•  We will be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to repayment of debt, limiting the

availability of cash for other purposes.
 

 
•  We may have difficulty obtaining financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general

corporate purposes or other purposes.
 

 •  We may have limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry.
 

 
•  We could be limited in our borrowing of additional funds and making strategic investments by restrictive covenants and the

borrowing base formula in our credit arrangements.
 

 

•  We may fail to comply with covenants under which we borrowed our indebtedness, including various financial covenants under
our Wells Fargo EDC Facilities. These covenants, applicable to specific four quarter rolling periods, include (i) a minimum
consolidated EBITDA target, (ii) a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio, and (iii) maximum capital expenditures. Our failure to
comply with covenants could result in an event of default. If an event of default occurs and is not cured or waived, it could result
in all amounts outstanding, together with accrued interest, becoming immediately due and payable. If we were unable to repay
such amounts, our lenders could proceed against any collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness. There can be no
assurance that we will maintain compliance with the covenants under the Wells Fargo EDC Facilities.

 

 
•  Our Wells Fargo EDC Facilities contains subjective acceleration clauses. There can be no assurance that the lender will not

exercise their rights to accelerate repayment under the terms of the agreement.

There can be no assurance that our leverage and such restrictions will not materially adversely affect our ability to finance our future
operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. In addition, our ability to pay principal and interest on our indebtedness
to meet our financial and restrictive covenants and to satisfy our other debt obligations will depend upon our future operating performance,
which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, certain of which are beyond our control,
as well as the availability of revolving credit borrowings under the Wells Fargo EDC Facilities or successor facilities.
 
Item 6 Exhibits
 
10.1

  

Letter of amendment dated May 18, 2010 between Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Central), Export Development Canada,
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Massachusetts and SMTC Mex Holdings,
Inc.

10.2
  

Letter of amendment dated May 18, 2010 between Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada (Formerly known as Wachovia
Capital Finance Corporation (Canada)) and SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Canada.

31.1  Certification of John Caldwell pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, dated May 19, 2010.

31.2  Certification of Jane Todd pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, dated May 19, 2010.

32.1
  

Certification of John Caldwell, pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, dated May 19, 2010.

32.2
  

Certification of Jane Todd, pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, dated May 19, 2010.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, SMTC Corporation has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned thereto duly authorized.
 

SMTC CORPORATION

By:  /S/    JOHN CALDWELL        
Name:  John Caldwell
Title:  President and CEO

By  /S/    JANE TODD        
Name:  Jane Todd
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 19, 2010
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Exhibit 10.1

May 18, 2010

VIA EMAIL

SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California
2302 Trade Zone Boulevard
San Jose, California USA 95131

-and-

SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Massachusetts
109 Constitution Boulevard, Unit 160
Franklin, Massachusetts USA 02038

-and-

SMTC Mex Holdings, Inc.
635 Hood Road
Markham, Ontario Canada L3R 4N6

Dear Ms. Jane Todd:
 

Re: Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Central), Export Development Canada, SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of
California, SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Massachusetts and SMTC Mex Holdings, Inc.

Reference is made to the Second Amended and Restated US Loan Agreement dated as of August 7, 2008 as amended by letter
agreements dated April 2, 2009, August 4, 2009 and December 4, 2009 (as amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated
or replaced from time to time, the “US Loan Agreement”) between Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Central), as the Revolving
Lender and the Agent, Export Development Canada, as the Tranche B Lender and the Tranche B Agent, each of SMTC Manufacturing
Corporation of California, SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Massachusetts and SMTC Mex Holdings, Inc., as the US Borrowers, and
certain other Obligors.
 

1. Definitions. In this letter, unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms shall have the respective
meanings specified in the US Loan Agreement.

 

2. Amendment to US Loan Agreement.
 

 
(a) This letter is an amendment to the US Loan Agreement. Unless the context of this letter otherwise requires, the US Loan

Agreement and this letter shall be read together



 
and shall have effect as if the provisions of the US Loan Agreement and this letter were contained in one agreement. The term
“Agreement” when used in the US Loan Agreement means the US Loan Agreement as amended by this letter, together with all
amendments, modifications, supplements, extensions, renewals, restatements and replacements thereof from time to time.

 

 (b) The US Loan Agreement is amended as follows:
 

 
(i) Effective March 20, 2010 Wachovia Bank, N.A. and Wachovia Bank of Delaware, N.A. merged into Wells Fargo Bank,

N.A. and the parties hereto acknowledge such merger and any reference in the US Loan Agreement to “Wachovia Bank,
N.A.” shall be replaced by “Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

 

 

(ii) Effective March 31, 2010, Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Canada) changed its legal name to Wells Fargo Capital
Finance Corporation Canada and the parties hereto acknowledge such name change and any reference in the US Loan
Agreement to “Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Canada)” shall be replaced by “Wells Fargo Capital Finance
Corporation Canada”.

 

 
(iii) The definition of “Applicable Margin” in Section 1.5 of the US Loan Agreement is amended by deleting the existing

table therein and replacing it with the following table:
 

Level   Total Leverage Ratio   

Applicable Margin for
Libor Rate Loans provided

by Tranche B Lenders   
Applicable Margin for
Reference Rate Loans  

Level I   Greater than or equal to 2.00x   3.50%  2.25% 
Level II

  

Less than 2.00x but greater than or equal
to 1.50x   3.00%  1.75% 

Level III   Less than 1.50x   2.50%  1.25% 
 

 
(iv) Section 1.67 “Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio”, Section 1.68 “Fixed Charges” and Section 8.22 “Fixed Charge

Coverage Ratio” are deleted.
 

 (v) Section 1.81 “Interest Rate” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
““Interest Rate” shall mean shall the following interest rates as set forth in the table below. The applicable Interest Rate
shall be determined and adjusted quarterly by Agent on each Calculation Date by reference to EBITDA for SMTC
Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries determined by Agent at the end of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of
SMTC Corporation preceding
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the applicable Calculation Date on a consolidated rolling four (4) fiscal quarter basis and in accordance with GAAP. If US
Borrowers fail to provide the Officer’s Compliance Certificate as required by Section 8.6(a)(ii) for the most recently
ended fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation preceding the applicable Calculation Date, the applicable Interest Rate for such
Calculation Date shall be based on Level III until such time as such Officer’s Compliance Certificate is provided, at which
time the Level shall be determined by Agent by reference to the EBITDA for SMTC Corporation and each of its
Subsidiaries at the end of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation preceding the applicable
Calculation Date on a consolidated rolling four (4) fiscal quarter basis and in accordance with GAAP:

 

Level   EBITDA   

Interest Rate if Revolving
Loan bearing interest at

Prime Rate   

Interest Rate if
Revolving Loan

bearing interest at
Adjusted Libor Rate

Level I
  

Greater than or equal to
US$15,000,000   

Prime Rate per annum
  

Adjusted Libor Rate
plus 3%

Level II

  

Less than US$15,000,000 but
greater than or equal to

US$13,000,000   

Prime Rate plus 0.5% per
annum

  

Adjusted Libor Rate
plus 3.5%

Level III
  

Less than US$13,000,000
  

Prime Rate plus 1.0% per
annum   

Adjusted Libor Rate
plus 4.0%

Provided however that “Interest Rate” shall mean a rate of interest of three (3%) percent per annum in excess of the
applicable Interest Rate for Revolving Loans, at Agent’s option, without notice, (A) on non-contingent Obligations (i) for
the period on and after the date of termination or non-renewal of the Revolving Loans until such time as Revolving Lender
and Agent have received full and final payment of all such Obligations and (ii) for the period from and after the date of the
occurrence of an Event of Default so long as such Event of Default is continuing as determined by Agent (notwithstanding
entry of any judgment against a US Borrower) and (B) on the Revolving Loans at any time outstanding in excess of the
amounts available to US Borrowers under Section 2 hereof (whether or not such excess(es) arise or are made with or
without Agent’s knowledge or consent and whether made before or after an Event of Default) (a “Revolving Loans
Excess Position”) until such time as the Revolving Loans outstanding are no longer in a Revolving Loans Excess Position;
provided however, in the event the Revolving Loans are in a Revolving Loans Excess Position solely as a result of a
subjective exercise of Agent’s discretion to revise the Availability Reserves pursuant to Section 2 hereof and absent
objective circumstances or events to justify same, the Interest Rate for the purposes of subparagraph (B) shall come into
effect on the fifth (5) Business Day following written notice of same given by Agent to US Borrowers.”.
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 (vi) Section 1.95 “Maturity Date” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
““Maturity Date” shall mean the date which is the earlier to occur of (i) August 12, 2013 and (ii) the termination of this
Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof.”.

 

 
(vii) Schedule 2.3(b)(i) to the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with Schedule 2.3(b)(i) attached to this letter. For

greater certainty, US Borrowers shall not be required to pay any principal repayments on the Tranche B Loan pursuant to
Section 2.3(b)(i) of the US Loan Agreement during the 2010 fiscal year of SMTC Corporation.

 

 
(viii) Section 8.6(a)(i) “Financial Statements and Other Information” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced

with:
“(i) within thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal month or within forty-five (45) days after the end of a fiscal month
that is the month end of a fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation, monthly unaudited financial statements of Canadian
Borrower and US Borrowers and unaudited consolidating financial statements of SMTC Corporation (including in each
case balance sheets, statements of income and loss, statements of cash flow, statements of shareholders’ equity, sales
backlog reports and sales and profitability reports for the ten (10) largest customers of SMTC and its Subsidiaries), all in
reasonable detail, fairly presenting the financial position and the results of the operations of US Borrowers, Canadian
Borrower and SMTC Corporation and their respective Subsidiaries as of the end of and through such fiscal month;”.

 

 
(ix) Section 8.6(a)(ii) “Financial Statements and Other Information” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced

with:
“(ii) within forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation, quarterly unaudited financial
statements of Canadian Borrower and US Borrowers and unaudited consolidating financial statements of SMTC
Corporation (including in each case balance sheets, statements of income and loss, statements of cash flow, statements of
shareholders’ equity, sales backlog reports and sales and profitability reports for the ten (10) largest customers of SMTC
and its Subsidiaries), all in reasonable detail, fairly presenting the financial position and the results of the operations of US
Borrowers, Canadian Borrower and SMTC Corporation and their respective Subsidiaries as of the end of and through such
fiscal quarter together with a certificate of the chief financial officer of each US Borrower in form and content satisfactory
to US Lenders and substantially in the form attached hereto as Schedule 8.6 (each, an “Officer’s Compliance
Certificate”) setting out the Total Leverage Ratio for the calculation of the Applicable Margin, the EBITDA amount for
the calculation of the Interest Rate and compliance with Sections 8.18, 8.23 and 8.24 each as at the end of the most recent
fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation, and the calculations used to determine such ratio, amount and compliance and
attaching the financial statements used to determine such ratio, amount and compliance;”.
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 (x) Section 8.18 “EBITDA” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
 
 “8.18 EBITDA

Each US Borrower shall ensure that EBITDA for SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries, calculated at the end of
each fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation on a consolidated rolling four (4) fiscal quarter basis and in accordance with
GAAP, shall not be less than the amounts set forth in the table below:

 
End of Fiscal Quarter   TTM EBITDA
June 2010   US$ 5,500,000
September 2010   US$ 8,000,000
December 2010   US$ 8,000,000
March 2011   US$ 8,000,000
June 2011   US$ 8,000,000
September 2011   US$10,000,000
December 2011   US$10,000,000
March 2012   US$11,000,000
June 2012   US$11,000,000
September 2012   US$11,000,000
December 2012   US$11,000,000
March 2013   US$12,000,000
June 2013   US$12,000,000
September 2013   US$12,000,000
December 2013   US$12,000,000

Agent, Tranche B Agent and US Borrowers acknowledge and agree that Schedule 8.18 attached hereto sets out
how Agent calculated the EBITDA covenant in Section 8.18.”.

 

 (xi) Section 8.23 “Maximum Total Debt” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
 
 “8.23 Maximum Total Debt

Each US Borrower shall ensure that the ratio of outstanding Total Debt of SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries
under this Agreement, the Canadian Loan Agreement and Capital Leases to trailing twelve (12) month EBITDA of SMTC
Corporation and its Subsidiaries calculated at the end of each fiscal quarter on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP
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shall not exceed 3:1. For purposes of calculating EBITDA for this Section 8.23 only, EBITDA may include cash payments
of accounts receivable of SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries due before the applicable fiscal quarter end in
accordance with customary procedures that are received by SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries within five
(5) Business Days of such applicable fiscal quarter end.”.

 

 (xii) Section 8.24 “Maximum Unfunded Capital Expenditures” of the US Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
 
 “8.24 Maximum Unfunded Capital Expenditures

Each US Borrower shall ensure that SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries do not, directly or indirectly, make or
commit to make, whether through purchase, capital leases or otherwise, unfunded Capital Expenditures in an aggregate
amount in excess of the amounts set forth in the table below for each fiscal year of SMTC Corporation. Fifty percent
(50%) of the unused portion of the Capital Expenditure amount set forth below in a fiscal year not to exceed US$1,000,000
for such fiscal year may be carried over for expenditure in the next succeeding fiscal year only, however any Capital
Expenditure made during any fiscal year shall be deemed made first in respect of amounts permitted for such fiscal year as
provided below and second in respect of amounts permitted to be carried over from the prior fiscal year.

 
Fiscal Year   Maximum Unfunded Capital Expenditures
2010   US$ 3,000,000
2011   US$ 4,000,000
2012   US$ 5,000,000
2013   US$ 5,000,000

 

 
(xiii) Schedules 8.6 and 8.18 attached hereto shall be deemed to be the Schedule 8.6 and 8.18 attached to the US Loan

Agreement.
 

 

(xiv) “Libor Rate Loans” under the US Loan Agreement shall include any portion of a Revolving Loan made by the Revolving
Lender on which interest is payable based on the Adjusted Libor Rate, US Borrowers agree to comply with such customary
procedures as are generally established by Agent for customers and specified by Agent to US Borrowers from time to time
for requests by US Borrowers for Libor Rate Loans that are Revolving Loans and the provisions in the US Loan
Agreement relating to Libor Rate Loans and references therein to “Tranche B Agent”, “Tranche B Lenders” and
“Reference Rate Loans” shall include references to “Agent”, “Revolving Lender” and “Prime Rate Revolving Loans” in
the context of Libor Rate Loans that are Revolving Loans.
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 (c) The effective date of the amendment to the US Loan Agreement provided in this letter is May 18, 2010.
 

3. No Novations. Nothing in this letter, or in the US Loan Agreement when read together with this letter, shall constitute a novation,
payment, re-advance or reduction or termination in respect of any Obligations.

 

4. Financing Agreement. This letter is a Financing Agreement.
 

5. Amendment Fee. The US Borrowers shall pay to the Agent an amendment fee of US$50,000, which amendment fee shall be fully
earned as of and payable on the date hereof. The US Borrowers shall pay to the Tranche B Agent an amendment fee of US$50,000,
which amendment fee shall be fully earned as of and payable on the date hereof.

 

6. Expenses. The US Borrowers shall pay all fees, expenses and disbursements including, without limitation, legal fees, incurred by or
payable to the Agent, Tranche B Agent and US Lenders in connection with the preparation, negotiation, completion, execution,
delivery and review of this letter and all other documents and instruments arising therefrom and/or executed in connection therewith.

 

7. Continuance of US Loan Agreement and Security.
 

 
(a) The US Loan Agreement, as amended by this letter, shall be and continue in full force and effect and is hereby confirmed and the

rights and obligations of all parties thereunder shall not be affected or prejudiced in any manner except as specifically provided
for herein.

 

 (b) Each of the US Borrowers and Obligors hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that:
 

 
(i) all security delivered by the US Borrowers and the Obligors in connection with the US Loan Agreement secures the

payment of all of the Obligations including, without limitation, the obligations arising under the US Loan Agreement, as
amended by the terms of this letter; and

 

 
(ii) the Agent, the Tranche B Agent and the US Lenders shall continue to have valid, enforceable and perfected first priority

liens upon the collateral described in the Financing Agreements, subject only to liens expressly permitted pursuant to the
US Loan Agreement.

 

 
(c) To induce the Agent, the Tranche B Agent and the US Lenders to enter into this letter, each of the US Borrowers and the Obligors

hereby represent and warrant to each of the Agent, the Tranche B Agent and the US Lenders as follows, which representations
and warranties shall survive the execution and delivery of this letter:

 

 (i) the US Borrowers and the Obligors are in compliance with all covenants in the Financing Agreements;
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 (ii) all the representations and warranties set out in the Financing Agreements are true and accurate;
 

 (iii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing;
 

 
(iv) no material adverse change has occurred with respect to any of the US Borrowers or the Obligors since the date of the

Agent’s latest field examination and no change or event has occurred which would have a material adverse effect on any of
the US Borrowers or the Obligors;

 

 
(v) the execution delivery, delivery and performance of this letter and the transactions contemplated hereunder are all within

its powers, have been duly authorized by it and are not in contravention of law or the terms of its organizational documents
or any indenture, agreement or undertaking to which it is a party or by which it or its property is bound;

 

 (vi) it has duly executed and delivered this letter; and
 

 (vii) this letter constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.
 

8. Counterparts. This letter may be executed in any number of separate original, facsimile or pdf counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

 

9. Governing Law. The validity, interpretation and enforcement of this letter and any dispute arising out of the relationship between the
parties hereto, whether in contract, tort, equity or otherwise, shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois.

 

10. Further Assurances. At the request of any of the Agent, the Tranche B Agent and the US Lenders at any time and from time to time,
each of the US Borrowers and the Obligors shall, at their expense, duly execute and deliver, or cause to be duly executed and delivered,
such further agreements, documents and instruments, and do or cause to be done such further acts as may be requested by any of the
Agent, the Tranche B Agent and the US Lenders to effectuate the provisions or purposes of this letter.

 

11. Amendments and Waivers. Neither this letter nor any provision hereof shall be amended, modified, waived or discharged orally or by
course of conduct, but only by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto.

 

12. Headings. The division of this letter into sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not
affect the construction or interpretation of this letter.

 

13. Successors and Assigns. This letter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Agent, the Tranche B
Agent, the US Lenders, the US Borrowers and the Obligors and their respective successors and assigns. The US Borrowers and the
Obligors may not assign their respective rights under this letter without the prior written consent of the Agent, the Tranche B Agent and
the US Lenders.
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14. Partial Invalidity. If any provision of this letter is held to be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not
invalidate this letter as a whole, but this letter shall be construed as though it did not contain the particular provision held to be invalid
or unenforceable and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced only to such extent as shall be permitted
by applicable law.

 

15. Acceptance. If the foregoing correctly sets out our agreement, please indicate your acceptance of this letter by signing below and
returning an executed copy to us by no later than 5:00 p.m. on May 18, 2010 (the “Effective Time”). If not so signed and returned by
all parties hereto to us on the Effective Time, this letter shall be null and void.

Yours truly,
 
REVOLVING LENDER AND AGENT:

WACHOVIA CAPITAL FINANCE
CORPORATION (CENTRAL)

By:  /s/ Carmela Massari

 

Name: Carmela Massari
Title: Vice President

By:   

 

Name:
Title:
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Agreed this 18th day of May, 2010.
 
TRANCHE B LENDER AND TRANCHE B AGENT:

EXPORT DEVELOPMENT CANADA

By:  /s/ Peter Johnston

 

Name: Peter Johnston
Title: Loan Portfolio Manager

By:  /s/ Christopher Wilson

 

Name: Christopher Wilson
Title: Asset Manager
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Agreed this 18th day of May, 2010.
 
US BORROWER:   US BORROWER:

SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF
CALIFORNIA   

SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF
MASSACHUSETTS

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:

US BORROWER:    

SMTC MEX HOLDINGS, INC.    

By: /s/ Jane Todd    

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer    

By:     

 

Name:
Title:    
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OBLIGORS:
Each of the undersigned Obligors hereby:
 

 
(a) acknowledges, confirms and agrees that such Obligor’s Financing Agreements (as each of the same may have been amended,

modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced) remain in full force and effect as at the date hereof in respect of
the Obligations under the US Loan Agreement;

 

 
(b) acknowledges and confirms that such Obligor has received a copy of the US Loan Agreement and this letter and understands and

agrees to the terms thereof;
 

 
(c) acknowledges and confirms that the representations and warranties set forth in the Financing Agreements to which it is a party

continue to be true and correct as of the date hereof; and
 

 
(d) acknowledges and confirms that it is in compliance with the covenants set forth in the Financing Agreements to which it is a party

as of the date hereof.

Dated as of the 18th day of May, 2010.
 
SMTC CORPORATION   SMTC HOLDINGS, LLC

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:

HTM HOLDINGS, INC.   RADIO COMPONENTES DE MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:
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SMTC DE CHIHUAHUA, S.A. DE C.V.

By:  /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Secretary and Treasurer

By:   

 

Name:
Title:
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SCHEDULE 2.3(b)(i)

TRANCHE B LOAN AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE
 

Date   Principal Repayment Amount
April 1, 2011   US$ 926,250
July 1, 2011   US$ 926,250
October 1, 2011   US$ 926,250
January 1, 2012   US$ 926,250
April 1, 2012   US$ 926,250
July 1, 2012   US$ 926,250
October 1, 2012   US$ 926,250
January 1, 2013   US$ 926,250
April 1, 2013   US$ 926,250
August 12, 2013   US$ 926,250



SCHEDULE 8.6

OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

See attached.



FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

This Compliance Certificate (this “Certificate”) is delivered to you pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Canadian Loan
Agreement dated as of August 7, 2008, as amended by letter agreements dated April 2, 2009, August 4, 2009, December 4, 2009 and
May 18, 2010, by and among SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF CANADA, as Canadian Borrower, and WELLS FARGO
CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION CANADA, formerly known as WACHOVIA CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION
(CANADA), as Revolving Lender and Agent, and the Second Amended and Restated US Loan Agreement dated as of August 7, 2008, as
amended by letter agreements dated April 2, 2009, August 4, 2009, December 4, 2009 and May 18, 2010, by and among SMTC
MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA, SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF MASSACHUSETTS,
SMTC MEX HOLDINGS, INC., as US Borrowers, WACHOVIA CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION (CENTRAL), as Revolving
Lender and Agent, and EXPORT DEVELOPMENT CANADA, as Tranche B Lender and Tranche B Agent.
 

 
1. I am the duly elected, qualified and acting Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the US Borrowers,

Canadian Borrower and SMTC Corporation.
 

 2. I have reviewed and am familiar with the contents of this Certificate.
 

 
3. I have reviewed the terms of the Canadian Loan Agreement and the US Loan Agreement referred to above. In this Certificate,

unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms shall have the respective meanings specified in
the US Loan Agreement.

 

 
4. Attached hereto as Attachment 1 is a certificate signed by me demonstrating compliance with the EBITDA covenants set forth in

Section 8.19 of the Canadian Loan Agreement and Section 8.18 of the US Loan Agreement together with the financial statements
used to determine such compliance.

 

 
5. Attached hereto as Attachment 2 is a certificate signed by me demonstrating compliance with the Maximum Total Debt covenants

set forth in Section 8.24 of the Canadian Loan Agreement and Section 8.23 of the US Loan Agreement together with the financial
statements used to determine such compliance.

 

 
6. Attached hereto as Attachment 3 is a certificate signed by me demonstrating compliance with the Maximum Unfunded Capital

Expenditures covenants set forth in Section 8.25 of the Canadian Loan Agreement and Section 8.24 of the US Loan Agreement
together with the financial statements used to determine such compliance.

 

 
7. Attached hereto as Attachment 4 is a certificate signed by me setting out the Total Leverage Ratio for the calculation of the

Applicable Margin together with the financial statements used to determine such calculation.



 
8. Attached hereto as Attachment 5 is a certificate signed by me setting out the EBITDA amount for the calculation of the Interest

Rate together with the financial statements used to determine such calculation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I execute this Certificate this      day of             , 20    .
 

SMTC CORPORATION

By:   

 

Name:
Title:

 
- 2 -



ATTACHMENT 1

EBITDA COVENANTS

See attached.



SMTC Corporation   31/03/2009 15:41
EBITDA Compliance Certificate
For Month and YTD period ending:
 

      Monthly actual   YTD Actual   

Net income     —    —    

Plus: Interest     —    —    

Plus: Income taxes     —    —    

Plus: Depreciation     —    —    

Plus: Amortization     —    —    

Less: Unusual gains   Detail below  —    —    

Plus: Unusual losses   Detail below  —    —    

Plus: Stock option expenses     —    —    

EBITDA     —    —    

Monthly rolling EBITDA         

EBITDA for :     months ended    $—  

EBITDA for the month of:          —  
         —  
         —  
        

Rolling month /QTR EBITDA at         $—  
        

Standard         

Compliance          no
 

Name          
Signature         
Title          
Date          



ATTACHMENT 2

MAXIMUM TOTAL DEBT COVENANTS

See attached.



SMTC Corporation
Debt/EBITDA minus Unfunded Capex Ratio
Date
 

   31-Mar   30-Jun   30-Sep   31-Dec

Revolver   —        

Term (Current)   —        

Leases ( Current)   —        

Term( LT)   —        

Leases (LT)   —        

Letters of credit   —        

Total debt   —    —    —    —  

EBITDA ( 4 QTR Rolling)   —        

Debt/EBITDA   #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!

Standard   6.9   5.2   4.4   3.6

Compliance   #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!
 

Name        
Signature        
Title        
Date        



ATTACHMENT 3

MAXIMUM UNFUNDED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES COVENANTS

See attached.



SMTC Corporation   3/31/2009 16:34

Date   
Unfunded CAPEX
Covenant   
 

   31-Mar   30-Jun   30-Sep   31-Dec

YTD CAPEX         
YTD CAPEX financing         

YTD Unfunded CAPEX   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —  

Maximum   $1,000,000  $1,000,000  $1,000,000  $1,000,000

Compliance    YES    YES    YES    YES
 

Name        
Signature        
Title        
Date        



ATTACHMENT 4

TOTAL LEVERAGE RATIO – APPLICABLE MARGIN CALCULATIONS

See attached.



ATTACHMENT 5

EBITDA AMOUNT – INTEREST RATE CALCULATIONS

See attached.



SCHEDULE 8.18

EBITDA CALCULATIONS

See attached.



SMTC Manufacturing Corporation
EBITDA reported for 2009 by Quarter
 

Jan   $ (140)  $ —  
Feb    479   
Mar    1,064    1,403
Apr    (738)  
May    496   
Jun    1,861    1,619
Jul    (104)  
Aug    227   
Sep    1,540    1,663
Oct    771   
Nov    646   
Dec    2,188    3,605

  

Total   $8,290   $8,290
  



Exhibit 10.2

May 18, 2010

VIA EMAIL

SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Canada /
Société de Fabrication SMTC du Canada
635 Hood Road
Markham, Ontario L3R 4N6

Dear Ms. Jane Todd:
 

Re: Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada (formerly known as Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Canada)) and
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Canada/Société de Fabrication SMTC du Canada

Reference is made to the Second Amended and Restated Canadian Loan Agreement dated as of August 7, 2008 as amended by letter
agreements dated April 2, 2009, August 4, 2009 and December 4, 2009 (as amended, modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated
or replaced from time to time, the “Canadian Loan Agreement”) between Wells Fargo Capital Finance Corporation Canada (formerly
known as Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Canada)), as the Revolving Lender and the Agent, and SMTC Manufacturing
Corporation of Canada/Société de Fabrication SMTC du Canada, as the Canadian Borrower, and certain other Obligors.
 

1. Definitions. In this letter, unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms shall have the respective
meanings specified in the Canadian Loan Agreement.

 

2. Amendment to Canadian Loan Agreement.
 

 

(a) This letter is an amendment to the Canadian Loan Agreement. Unless the context of this letter otherwise requires, the Canadian
Loan Agreement and this letter shall be read together and shall have effect as if the provisions of the Canadian Loan Agreement
and this letter were contained in one agreement. The term “Agreement” when used in the Canadian Loan Agreement means the
Canadian Loan Agreement as amended by this letter, together with all amendments, modifications, supplements, extensions,
renewals, restatements and replacements thereof from time to time.

 

 (b) The Canadian Loan Agreement is amended as follows:
 

 
(i) Effective March 20, 2010 Wachovia Bank, N.A. and Wachovia Bank of Delaware, N.A. merged into Wells Fargo Bank,

N.A. and the parties hereto acknowledge such merger and any reference in the Canadian Loan Agreement to “Wachovia
Bank, N.A.” shall be replaced by “Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.”.



 

(ii) Effective March 31, 2010, Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Canada) changed its legal name to Wells Fargo Capital
Finance Corporation Canada and the parties hereto acknowledge such name change and any reference in the Canadian
Loan Agreement to “Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Canada)” shall be replaced by “Wells Fargo Capital Finance
Corporation Canada”.

 

 
(iii) Section 1.48 “Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio”, Section 1.49 “Fixed Charges” and Section 8.23 “Fixed Charge

Coverage Ratio” are deleted.
 

 (iv) Section 1.62 “Interest Rate” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
““Interest Rate” shall mean shall the following interest rates as set forth in the table below provided that the interest rate
for the Term Loan shall be an annual rate of interest equal to the US Prime Rate plus three percent (3%) per annum. The
applicable Interest Rate below shall be determined and adjusted quarterly by Agent on each Calculation Date by reference
to EBITDA for SMTC Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries determined by Agent at the end of the most recently ended
fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation preceding the applicable Calculation Date on a consolidated rolling four (4) fiscal
quarter basis and in accordance with GAAP. If Canadian Borrower fails to provide the Officer’s Compliance Certificate as
required by Section 8.6(a)(ii) for the most recently ended fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation preceding the applicable
Calculation Date, the applicable Interest Rate for such Calculation Date shall be based on Level III until such time as such
Officer’s Compliance Certificate is provided, at which time the Level shall be determined by Agent by reference to the
EBITDA for SMTC Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries at the end of the most recently ended fiscal quarter of SMTC
Corporation preceding the applicable Calculation Date on a consolidated rolling four (4) fiscal quarter basis and in
accordance with GAAP:

 

Level   EBITDA   

Interest Rate if Revolving
Loan bearing interest at
Canadian Prime Rate or

US Prime Rate   

Interest Rate if
Revolving Loan

bearing interest at
Adjusted Libor Rate

Level I
  

Greater than or equal to
US$15,000,000   

Canadian Prime Rate or US
Prime Rate per annum   

Adjusted Libor Rate plus 3%

Level II

  

Less than US$15,000,000 but
greater than or equal to

US$13,000,000   

Canadian Prime Rate or US
Prime Rate plus 0.5% per

annum   

Adjusted Libor Rate plus
3.5%

Level III

  

Less than US$13,000,000

  

Canadian Prime Rate or US
Prime Rate plus 1.0% per

annum   

Adjusted Libor Rate plus
4.0%



Provided however that “Interest Rate” shall mean a rate of interest of three (3%) percent per annum in excess of the
applicable Interest Rate for Revolving Loans and the Term Loan, at Agent’s option, without notice, (A) on non-contingent
Obligations (i) for the period on and after the date of termination or non-renewal of the Revolving Loans and the Term
Loan until such time as Revolving Lender and Agent have received full and final payment of all such Obligations and
(ii) for the period from and after the date of the occurrence of an Event of Default so long as such Event of Default is
continuing as determined by Agent (notwithstanding entry of any judgment against the Canadian Borrower) and (B) on the
Revolving Loans at any time outstanding in excess of the amounts available to the Canadian Borrower under Section 2
hereof (whether or not such excess(es) arise or are made with or without Agent’s knowledge or consent and whether made
before or after an Event of Default) (a “Revolving Loans Excess Position”) until such time as the Revolving Loans
outstanding are no longer in a Revolving Loans Excess Position; provided however, in the event the Revolving Loans are
in a Revolving Loans Excess Position solely as a result of a subjective exercise of Agent’s discretion to revise the
Availability Reserves pursuant to Section 2 hereof and absent objective circumstances or events to justify same, the
Interest Rate for the purposes of subparagraph (B) shall come into effect on the fifth (5) Business Day following written
notice of same given by Agent to the Canadian Borrower.”.

 

 (v) Section 1.77 “Maturity Date” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
““Maturity Date” shall mean the date which is the earlier to occur of (i) August 12, 2013 and (ii) the termination of this
Agreement pursuant to the terms hereof.”.

 

 
(vi) Section 8.6(a)(i) “Financial Statements and Other Information” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and

replaced with:
“(i) within thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal month or within forty-five (45) days after the end of a fiscal month
that is the month end of a fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation, monthly unaudited financial statements of Canadian
Borrower and US Borrowers and unaudited consolidating financial statements of SMTC Corporation (including in each
case balance sheets, statements of income and loss, statements of cash flow, statements of shareholders’ equity, sales
backlog reports and sales and profitability reports for the ten (10) largest customers of SMTC and its Subsidiaries), all in
reasonable detail, fairly presenting the financial position and the results of the operations of US Borrowers, Canadian
Borrower and SMTC Corporation and their respective Subsidiaries as of the end of and through such fiscal month;”.



 
(vii) Section 8.6(a)(ii) “Financial Statements and Other Information” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and

replaced with:
“(ii) within forty-five (45) days after the end of each fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation, quarterly unaudited financial
statements of Canadian Borrower and US Borrowers and unaudited consolidating financial statements of SMTC
Corporation (including in each case balance sheets, statements of income and loss, statements of cash flow, statements of
shareholders’ equity, sales backlog reports and sales and profitability reports for the ten (10) largest customers of SMTC
and its Subsidiaries), all in reasonable detail, fairly presenting the financial position and the results of the operations of US
Borrowers, Canadian Borrower and SMTC Corporation and their respective Subsidiaries as of the end of and through such
fiscal quarter together with a certificate of the chief financial officer of the Canadian Borrower in form and content
satisfactory to Canadian Lenders and substantially in the form attached hereto as Schedule 8.6 (each, an “Officer’s
Compliance Certificate”) setting out the Total Leverage Ratio for the calculation of the Applicable Margin, the EBITDA
amount for the calculation of the Interest Rate and compliance with Sections 8.19, 8.24 and 8.25 each as at the end of the
most recent fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation, and the calculations used to determine such ratio, amount and compliance
and attaching the financial statements used to determine such ratio, amount and compliance;”.

 

 (viii) Section 8.19 “EBITDA” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
 
 “8.19 EBITDA

Canadian Borrower shall ensure that EBITDA for SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries, calculated at the end of
each fiscal quarter of SMTC Corporation on a consolidated rolling four (4) fiscal quarter basis and in accordance with
GAAP, shall not be less than the amounts set forth in the table below:

 
End of Fiscal Quarter   TTM EBITDA
June 2010   US$ 5,500,000
September 2010   US$ 8,000,000
December 2010   US$ 8,000,000
March 2011   US$ 8,000,000
June 2011   US$ 8,000,000
September 2011   US$10,000,000
December 2011   US$10,000,000
March 2012   US$11,000,000
June 2012   US$11,000,000
September 2012   US$11,000,000
December 2012   US$11,000,000
March 2013   US$12,000,000
June 2013   US$12,000,000



End of Fiscal Quarter   TTM EBITDA
September 2013   US$12,000,000
December 2013   US$12,000,000

Agent and the Canadian Borrower acknowledge and agree that Schedule 8.19 attached hereto sets out how Agent
calculated the EBITDA covenant in Section 8.19.”.

 

 (ix) Section 8.24 “Maximum Total Debt” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced with:
 
 “8.24 Maximum Total Debt

Canadian Borrower shall ensure that the ratio of outstanding Total Debt of SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries
under this Agreement, the US Loan Agreement and Capital Leases to trailing twelve (12) month EBITDA of SMTC
Corporation and its Subsidiaries calculated at the end of each fiscal quarter on a consolidated basis in accordance with
GAAP shall not exceed 3:1. For purposes of calculating EBITDA for this Section 8.24 only, EBITDA may include cash
payments of accounts receivable of SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries due before the applicable fiscal quarter end in
accordance with customary procedures that are received by SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries within five
(5) Business Days of such applicable fiscal quarter end.”.

 

 
(x) Section 8.25 “Maximum Unfunded Capital Expenditures” of the Canadian Loan Agreement is deleted and replaced

with:
 
 “8.25 Maximum Unfunded Capital Expenditures

Canadian Borrower shall ensure that SMTC Corporation and its Subsidiaries do not, directly or indirectly, make or
commit to make, whether through purchase, capital leases or otherwise, unfunded Capital Expenditures in an aggregate
amount in excess of the amounts set forth in the table below for each fiscal year of SMTC Corporation. Fifty percent
(50%) of the unused portion of the Capital Expenditure amount set forth below in a fiscal year not to exceed US$1,000,000
for such fiscal year may be carried over for expenditure in the next succeeding fiscal year only, however any Capital
Expenditure made during any fiscal year shall be deemed made first in respect of amounts permitted for such fiscal year as
provided below and second in respect of amounts permitted to be carried over from the prior fiscal year.



Fiscal Year   Maximum Unfunded Capital Expenditures
2010   US$ 3,000,000
2011   US$ 4,000,000
2012   US$ 5,000,000
2013   US$ 5,000,000

 

 
(xi) Schedules 8.6 and 8.19 attached hereto shall be deemed to be the Schedules 8.6 and 8.19 attached to the Canadian Loan

Agreement.
 

 

(xii) “Libor Rate Loans” under the Canadian Loan Agreement shall include any portion of a Revolving Loan made by the
Revolving Lender on which interest is payable based on the Adjusted Libor Rate, Canadian Borrower agrees to comply
with such customary procedures as are generally established by Agent for customers and specified by Agent to Canadian
Borrower from time to time for requests by Canadian Borrower for Libor Rate Loans that are Revolving Loans and the
provisions in the Canadian Loan Agreement relating to the Libor Rate Loans and references therein to “Tranche B Agent”,
“Tranche B Lenders” and Reference Rate Loans” shall include references to “Agent”, Revolving Lender” and “US Prime
Rate Revolving Loans” in the context of Libor Rate Loans that are Revolving Loans.

 

 (c) The effective date of the amendment to the Canadian Loan Agreement provided in this letter is May 18, 2010.
 

3. No Novations. Nothing in this letter, or in the Canadian Loan Agreement when read together with this letter, shall constitute a novation,
payment, re-advance or reduction or termination in respect of any Obligations.

 

4. Financing Agreement. This letter is a Financing Agreement.
 

5. Expenses. The Canadian Borrower shall pay all fees, expenses and disbursements including, without limitation, legal fees, incurred by
or payable to the Agent and Revolving Lender in connection with the preparation, negotiation, completion, execution, delivery and
review of this letter and all other documents and instruments arising therefrom and/or executed in connection therewith.

 

6. Continuance of Canadian Loan Agreement and Security.
 

 
(a) The Canadian Loan Agreement, as amended by this letter, shall be and continue in full force and effect and is hereby confirmed

and the rights and obligations of all parties thereunder shall not be affected or prejudiced in any manner except as specifically
provided for herein.

 

 (b) The Canadian Borrower and Obligors hereby acknowledges, confirms and agrees that:
 

 
(i) all security delivered by the Canadian Borrower and the Obligors in connection with the Canadian Loan Agreement

secures the payment of all of the Obligations including, without limitation, the obligations arising under the Canadian
Loan Agreement, as amended by the terms of this letter; and



 
(ii) the Agent and the Canadian Lenders shall continue to have valid, enforceable and perfected first priority liens upon the

collateral described in the Financing Agreements, subject only to liens expressly permitted pursuant to the Canadian Loan
Agreement.

 

 
(c) To induce the Agent and the Revolving Lender to enter into this letter, the Canadian Borrower and the Obligors hereby represent

and warrant to each of the Agent and the Revolving Lender as follows, which representations and warranties shall survive the
execution and delivery of this letter:

 

 (i) the Canadian Borrower and the Obligors are in compliance with all covenants in the Financing Agreements;
 

 (ii) all the representations and warranties set out in the Financing Agreements are true and accurate;
 

 (iii) no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing;
 

 
(iv) no material adverse change has occurred with respect to the Canadian Borrower or the Obligors since the date of the

Agent’s latest field examination and no change or event has occurred which would have a material adverse effect on the
Canadian Borrower or the Obligors;

 

 
(v) the execution delivery, delivery and performance of this letter and the transactions contemplated hereunder are all within

its powers, have been duly authorized by it and are not in contravention of law or the terms of its organizational documents
or any indenture, agreement or undertaking to which it is a party or by which it or its property is bound;

 

 (vi) it has duly executed and delivered this letter; and
 

 (vii) this letter constitutes its legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms.
 

7. Counterparts. This letter may be executed in any number of separate original, facsimile or pdf counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original and all of said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument.

 

8. Governing Law. The validity, interpretation and enforcement of this letter and any dispute arising out of the relationship between the
parties hereto, whether in contract, tort, equity or otherwise, shall be governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario and the federal
laws of Canada applicable therein.



9. Further Assurances. At the request of any of the Agent or the Revolving Lender at any time and from time to time, the Canadian
Borrower and the Obligors shall, at their expense, duly execute and deliver, or cause to be duly executed and delivered, such further
agreements, documents and instruments, and do or cause to be done such further acts as may be requested by any of the Agent or the
Revolving Lender to effectuate the provisions or purposes of this letter.

 

10. Amendments and Waivers. Neither this letter nor any provision hereof shall be amended, modified, waived or discharged orally or by
course of conduct, but only by a written agreement signed by the parties hereto.

 

11. Headings. The division of this letter into sections and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not
affect the construction or interpretation of this letter.

 

12. Successors and Assigns. This letter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Agent, the Revolving
Lender, the Canadian Borrower and the Obligors and their respective successors and assigns. The Canadian Borrower and the Obligors
may not assign their respective rights under this letter without the prior written consent of the Agent and the Revolving Lender.

 

13. Partial Invalidity. If any provision of this letter is held to be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not
invalidate this letter as a whole, but this letter shall be construed as though it did not contain the particular provision held to be invalid
or unenforceable and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and enforced only to such extent as shall be permitted
by applicable law.

 

14. Acceptance. If the foregoing correctly sets out our agreement, please indicate your acceptance of this letter by signing below and
returning an executed copy to us by no later than 5:00 p.m. on May 18, 2010 (the “Effective Time”). If not so signed and returned by
all parties hereto to us on the Effective Time, this letter shall be null and void.



Yours truly,
 
REVOLVING LENDER AND AGENT:

WELLS FARGO CAPITAL FINANCE
CORPORATION CANADA

By:  /s/ Carmela Massari

 

Name: Carmela Massari
Title: Vice President

By:   

 

Name:
Title:



Agreed this 18th day of May, 2010.
 
CANADIAN BORROWER:

SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF
CANADA / SOCIÉTÉ DE FABRICATION SMTC
DU CANADA

By:  /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary

By:   

 

Name:
Title:

OBLIGORS:
Each of the undersigned Obligors hereby:
 

 
(a) acknowledges, confirms and agrees that such Obligor’s Financing Agreements (as each of the same may have been amended,

modified, supplemented, extended, renewed, restated or replaced) remain in full force and effect as at the date hereof in respect of
the Obligations under the Canadian Loan Agreement;

 

 
(b) acknowledges and confirms that such Obligor has received a copy of the Canadian Loan Agreement and this letter and

understands and agrees to the terms thereof;
 

 
(c) acknowledges and confirms that the representations and warranties set forth in the Financing Agreements to which it is a party

continue to be true and correct as of the date hereof; and
 

 
(d) acknowledges and confirms that it is in compliance with the covenants set forth in the Financing Agreements to which it is a party

as of the date hereof.

Dated as of the 18th day of May, 2010.



SMTC CORPORATION   SMTC HOLDINGS, LLC

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:

HTM HOLDINGS, INC.   RADIO COMPONENTES DE MEXICO, S.A. DE C.V.

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:



SMTC DE CHIHUAHUA, S.A. DE C.V.   SMTC NOVA SCOTIA COMPANY

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:

SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF
CALIFORNIA   

SMTC MEX HOLDINGS, INC.

By: /s/ Jane Todd   By: /s/ Jane Todd

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary    

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary

By:    By:  

 

Name:
Title:    

Name:
Title:

SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF
MASSACHUSETTS    

By: /s/ Jane Todd    

 

Name: Jane Todd
Title: Treasurer and Secretary    

By:     

 

Name:
Title:    



SCHEDULE 8.6

OFFICER’S COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

See attached.



FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

This Compliance Certificate (this “Certificate”) is delivered to you pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Canadian Loan
Agreement dated as of August 7, 2008, as amended by letter agreements dated April 2, 2009, August 4, 2009, December 4, 2009 and
May 18, 2010, by and among SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF CANADA, as Canadian Borrower, and WELLS FARGO
CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION CANADA, formerly known as WACHOVIA CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION
(CANADA), as Revolving Lender and Agent, and the Second Amended and Restated US Loan Agreement dated as of August 7, 2008, as
amended by letter agreements dated April 2, 2009, August 4, 2009, December 4, 2009 and May 18, 2010, by and among SMTC
MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF CALIFORNIA, SMTC MANUFACTURING CORPORATION OF MASSACHUSETTS,
SMTC MEX HOLDINGS, INC., as US Borrowers, WACHOVIA CAPITAL FINANCE CORPORATION (CENTRAL), as Revolving
Lender and Agent, and EXPORT DEVELOPMENT CANADA, as Tranche B Lender and Tranche B Agent.
 

 
1. I am the duly elected, qualified and acting Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the US Borrowers,

Canadian Borrower and SMTC Corporation.
 

 2. I have reviewed and am familiar with the contents of this Certificate.
 

 
3. I have reviewed the terms of the Canadian Loan Agreement and the US Loan Agreement referred to above. In this Certificate,

unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all capitalized terms shall have the respective meanings specified in
the US Loan Agreement.

 

 
4. Attached hereto as Attachment 1 is a certificate signed by me demonstrating compliance with the EBITDA covenants set forth in

Section 8.19 of the Canadian Loan Agreement and Section 8.18 of the US Loan Agreement together with the financial statements
used to determine such compliance.

 

 
5. Attached hereto as Attachment 2 is a certificate signed by me demonstrating compliance with the Maximum Total Debt covenants

set forth in Section 8.24 of the Canadian Loan Agreement and Section 8.23 of the US Loan Agreement together with the financial
statements used to determine such compliance.

 

 
6. Attached hereto as Attachment 3 is a certificate signed by me demonstrating compliance with the Maximum Unfunded Capital

Expenditures covenants set forth in Section 8.25 of the Canadian Loan Agreement and Section 8.24 of the US Loan Agreement
together with the financial statements used to determine such compliance.

 

 
7. Attached hereto as Attachment 4 is a certificate signed by me setting out the Total Leverage Ratio for the calculation of the

Applicable Margin together with the financial statements used to determine such calculation.



 
8. Attached hereto as Attachment 5 is a certificate signed by me setting out the EBITDA amount for the calculation of the Interest

Rate together with the financial statements used to determine such calculation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I execute this Certificate this                      day of             , 20    .
 

SMTC CORPORATION

By:   

 

Name:
Title:
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ATTACHMENT 1

EBITDA COVENANTS

See attached.



SMTC Corporation   31/03/2009 15:41
EBITDA Compliance Certificate   
For Month and YTD period ending:   
 

      Monthly actual   YTD Actual   

Net income     —    —    

Plus: Interest     —    —    

Plus: Income taxes     —    —    

Plus: Depreciation     —    —    

Plus: Amortization     —    —    

Less: Unusual gains   Detail below  —    —    

Plus: Unusual losses   Detail below  —    —    

Plus: Stock option expenses     —    —    

EBITDA     —    —    

Monthly rolling EBITDA         

EBITDA for :     months ended    $—  

EBITDA for the month of:          —  
         —  
         —  
        

Rolling month /QTR EBITDA at         $—  
        

Standard         

Compliance          no
 

Name        
Signature        
Title        
Date        



ATTACHMENT 2

MAXIMUM TOTAL DEBT COVENANTS

See attached.



SMTC Corporation
Debt/EBITDA minus Unfunded Capex Ratio
Date
 

   31-Mar   30-Jun   30-Sep   31-Dec

Revolver   —        

Term (Current)   —        

Leases ( Current)   —        

Term( LT)   —        

Leases (LT)   —        

Letters of credit   —        

Total debt   —    —    —    —  

EBITDA ( 4 QTR Rolling)   —        

Debt/EBITDA   #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!

Standard   6.9  5.2  4.4  3.6

Compliance   #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!  #DIV/0!
 

Name        
Signature        
Title        
Date        



ATTACHMENT 3

MAXIMUM UNFUNDED CAPITAL EXPENDITURES COVENANTS

See attached.



SMTC Corporation   3/31/2009 16:34
Date   
Unfunded CAPEX
Covenant   
 

   31-Mar   30-Jun   30-Sep   31-Dec
YTD CAPEX         
YTD CAPEX financing         

YTD Unfunded CAPEX   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ —  

Maximum   $1,000,000  $1,000,000  $1,000,000  $1,000,000

Compliance    YES    YES    YES    YES
 

Name        
Signature        
Title        
Date        



ATTACHMENT 4

TOTAL LEVERAGE RATIO – APPLICABLE MARGIN CALCULATIONS

See attached.



ATTACHMENT 5

EBITDA AMOUNT – INTEREST RATE CALCULATIONS

See attached.



SCHEDULE 8.19

EBITDA CALCULATIONS

See attached.



SMTC Manufacturing Corporation
EBITDA reported for 2009 by Quarter
 

Jan   $ (140)  $ —  
Feb    479   
Mar    1,064    1,403
Apr    (738)  
May    496   
Jun    1,861    1,619
Jul    (104)  
Aug    227   
Sep    1,540    1,663
Oct    771   
Nov    646   
Dec    2,188    3,605

  

Total   $8,290   $8,290
  



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION
I, John Caldwell, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of SMTC Corporation;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 19, 2010
 

/s/ John Caldwell
John Caldwell
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATION
I, Jane Todd, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of SMTC Corporation;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 19, 2010
 

/s/ Jane Todd
Jane Todd
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, the undersigned, as chief executive officer of SMTC Corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s
knowledge:

1) the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 4, 2010 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 4, 2010 fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
/s/ John Caldwell
John Caldwell
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 19, 2010

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to SMTC Corporation and will be retained by
SMTC Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, the undersigned, as principal financial officer of SMTC Corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that to the
undersigned’s knowledge:

1) the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 4, 2010 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the Company’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 4, 2010 fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
/s/ Jane Todd
Jane Todd
Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 19, 2010

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to SMTC Corporation and will be retained by
SMTC Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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